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FERRATUM BANK PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Directors’ report

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Principal activities

The Bank’s principal activity is the operation of a credit institution under the Banking Act, Cap 371 of the
Laws of Malta, in accordance with the credit institution licence granted by the Malta Financial Services
Authority.

The Bank’s principal activity comprises the origination of unsecured lending and credit products which are
distributed through an online platform. During 2021, the Bank provided its services in Estonia, Latvia, Czech
Republic, Germany, Bulgaria, Sweden, Norway, Croatia, Denmark, Finland and Romania. To part finance
its lending activities, the Bank offers savings and term deposits for private individuals to its customers in
Germany.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The financial risk management note in the financial statements (Note 2) describes the process of how the
Bank identifies and manages its risks and uncertainties. The main categories described in this note are
credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. The same note includes extensive detail of the
processes undertaken by the Bank to manage these risks.

During 2021 the Board continued to evaluate the effects that the COVID-19 pandemic had on the business
of the Bank. Due to the negative effect that the pandemic is having on the worldwide economies, the Bank
continued to assess the credit management process, the financial performance and the projected level of
business and anticipated regulatory position for the next twelve months. On the basis of such assessment,
the Board and management have concluded that there exists sufficient evidence to support the going
concern assumption in the preparation of these financial statements.

The geopolitical situation in Eastern Europe has intensified since the end of February 2022, with Russia’s
invasion of Ukraine. The Bank has no exposures to either Russia or Ukraine. The Bank is actively monitoring
the situation and considering its circumstances and risk exposures when analysing how the accounting
impacts arising from the war may affect its financial reporting.

Review of the business

The Bank registered a profit after tax of €10.5 million (2020: €18.9 million) during the financial year under
review.

The statement of comprehensive income is set out on page 18. The net interest income earned by the Bank
amounted to €133.5 million during FY2021, reflecting an increase of 3% over FY2020. This is a reflection
of the continued efforts made by the Bank to increase its lending business operations. The net fee and
commission expense amounts to €7.7 million compared to €5.8 million during FY2020. This resulted in an
operating income of €125.7 million compared to €123.9 million during FY2020.

The Bank’s operating expenditure increased by 11% during the current financial year, and reached a total
of €68 million, compared to €52.1 million during FY2020. The increase is mainly attributable to increased
marketing and representation costs, particularly online marketing, resulting from the Bank’s increased
efforts to improve its online social media presents. During 2021, the net impairment losses on the Bank’s
lending business amounted to €52.2 million. This has remained at the same level as last year.
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Directors’ report — continued

In view of the above, the Bank reported a profit before tax of €15.5 million compared to €19.3 million during
FY2020, which is equivalent to €10.5 million and €18.9 million after tax respectively. During 2021, the total
tax expense amounted to €4.9 million compared to €399 thousand FY2020. The increase in the tax expense
is a result of the release of a deferred tax asset amounting to €4.2 million. This was originally recognised in
view of the expected tax benefit emanating from the additional credit loss provision required upon the initial
adoption of IFRS 9.

The statement of financial position reflects an increase in total assets of €159 million, from €441 million as
at the end of 2020 to €600 million as at 31 December 2021, an increase of 36%. The main assets of the
Bank continue to comprise loans and advances to customers, which increased from €241 million to €324
million. The increase is partly attributable to a significant growth in the Bank’s credit limit portfolio, mainly in
Sweden, Denmark and Latvia. The increase is also attributable to the Bank’s increased focus on the prime
lending portfolio, particularly in Sweden, Finland, Latvia and Germany. The Bank’s main assets also
comprises balances with central banks and other banks amounting to €187 million as at 31 December 2021.

The Bank continued to fund its business through customer deposits, which grew from €340 million as at the
end of 2020 to €486 million as at 31 December 2021. The Bank offers savings and term deposit products
with different maturities ranging from 3 months to 36 months, predominately sourced from the German
market.

The Bank registered strong regulatory ratios throughout the financial year. The Liquidity Coverage Ratio
metric, designed to ensure that a bank has sufficient unencumbered high-quality liquid assets (‘HQLA’
consisting of cash or assets that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value in markets) to meet
its liquidity needs in a 30-calendar-day liquidity stress scenario was 2031% as at 31 December 2021. The
Bank is required to maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets (“Capital requirements
ratio”) as well as a CET 1 (Common Equity Tier 1) capital ratio above a minimum level of 16.05% as
prescribed by banking regulations. The Bank’s total capital ratio and CET1 capital ratio as at 31 December
2021 was 18.45%.

Environmental, social and employee matters

The Bank has not yet adopted formal policies in relation to environmental and social matters (ESG).
Accordingly, the Bank does not track its progress in these areas by referencing to specific non-financial key
performance indicators set in the context of formal policies and procedures. Notwithstanding that the Bank
does not have formal policies on ESG, the Bank conducted a number of initiatives in this regard. The Bank
will be considering formalising ESG policies as a responsible corporate citizen.

Employee matters

The Bank operates in a technology-led and rapidly evolving sector. It employs skilled individuals to enable
innovation and transformation throughout its business and processes. The Bank will continue to invest in
human resources and staff development.

The Bank is very proud of its flexible work environment which encompasses various family-friendly
measures, and which enables its workforce to ensure a better work-life balance. Diversifying the mix of the
Bank’s people continues to be a priority within its people strategy. The Bank wants to create an environment
where people can feel open about being themselves at work. The Bank firmly believes in equality and
respect for human rights. An inclusive culture is fundamental towards ensuring that the Bank’s diverse
workforce can develop.

The Bank regularly reviews pay and benefits to make sure that remuneration is competitive and fair.
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Social support

The Bank supports a number of initiatives which deliver social and environmental benefits. This support is
a mixture of monetary, time and in-kind contributions. The Bank takes pride in contributing towards different
charities and good causes as suggested by its employees. Several donations have been made to different
institutions including animal organisations, children’s health organisations, poverty, human & civil rights
organisations, health organisations as well as environmental and community development organisations.

Environmental matters

The Bank continues to retain a watchful eye on environmental considerations in all its activities. It is
cognisant of its impact on the environment, taking into account the level of energy, water consumption and
waste generation.

Dividends

During 2021, the Bank distributed a dividend amounting to €15 million. It received a capital contribution
amounting to €18 million from its ultimate parent company, which continued to strengthen the Bank’s equity
structure.

Directors

The directors of the Bank who held office throughout the year were:

Charles Borg — independent non-executive director and chairman

Jorma Jokela — non-executive director

Lea Liigus — non-executive director

Esa Tapani Teravainen — non-executive and independent director

Erik Ferm — non-executive and independent director

Victor Denaro — non-executive and independent director

Clemens Matthias Fritz Krause — non-executive director

Jussi Matti Eevertti Mekkonen — non-executive and independent director
Klaus O. Schmidt — non-executive and independent director

In accordance with the Bank’s articles of association, the directors remain in office until they resign or are
otherwise removed.




FERRATUM BANK PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Directors’ report - continued
Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements

The directors are required by the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 and the Maltese Companies Act, 1995 to
prepare financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Bank as at the end of
each reporting period and of the profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for:

e ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;

e selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;

e making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and

e ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Bank will continue in business as a going concern.

The directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and that comply with the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 and the
Companies Act, 1995. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The financial statements of Ferratum Bank plc for the year ended 31 December 2021 are included in the
Annual Report 2021, which is published in hard-copy printed form and may be made available on the Bank’s
website. The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Annual Report on the website
in view of their responsibility for the controls over, and the security of, the website. Access to information
published on the Bank’s website is available in other countries and jurisdictions, where legislation governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from requirements or practice in Malta.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their re-
appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the board

Victor
Directo

harles Borg
Director

Registered Office:
ST Business Centre,
120, The Strand,
Gzira, GZR1027
Malta

22 April 2022
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion
In our opinion:

e The financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Ferratum Bank plc (the
Bank) as at 31 December 2021, and of the Bank’s financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted
by the EU; and

e The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Companies Act (Cap. 386) and the Maltese Banking Act (Cap. 371).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee.

What we have audited
Ferratum Bank plc’s financial statements, set out on pages 17 to 117, comprise:

e the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;

e the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
e the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Independence

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements of the
Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the
Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Malta. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these Codes.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to the
Bank are in accordance with the applicable law and regulations in Malta and that we have not provided
non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 18A of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281).

The non-audit services that we have provided to the Bank, in the period from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2021, are disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements.

Our audit approach

Overall materiality: €775,000, which represents 5% of profit before tax.

Materiality

Audit
scope

Credit loss allowances in respect of loans and advances to customers
of the bank

Key audit
matters

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement
due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion
on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Bank, the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Bank operates.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality,
including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall materiality €775,000

How we determined it 5% of profit before tax.

Rationale for the We chose profit before tax as the benchmark because, in our

materiality benchmark view, it is the benchmark against which the performance of the

applied Bank is most commonly measured by users, and is a generally
accepted benchmark.

We selected 5% based on our professional judgement, noting that
it is also within the range of quantitative materiality thresholds
that we would consider to be acceptable.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our
audit above €39,000 as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting
for qualitative reasons.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on these matters.

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Key audit matter

Credit loss allowances in respect of loans and
advances to customers of the bank

Credit loss allowances in respect of loans and
advances to customers represent management’s
best estimate of expected credit losses (‘ECLs’)
within the loan portfolios at the reporting date.

The development of the models designed to
estimate ECLs on loans and advances to
customers in accordance with the requirements
of IFRS 9 requires a considerable level of
judgement since the determination of ECL is
subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The outbreak of the Covid-19
pandemic has exacerbated the level of
uncertainty around the calculation of ECL,
giving rise to heightened subjectivity in the
determination of model assumptions used to
estimate key model risk parameters and hence
necessitating a higher level of expert judgement.

In general, the Bank calculates ECLs by using
the following key inputs: probability of default
(PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at
default (EAD). The maximum period considered
when measuring ECLs is the maximum period
over which the Bank is exposed to credit risk.

Credit loss allowances relating to all loans and
advances to customers in the Bank’s consumer
lending portfolio (Stages 1-3) are determined on
a collective portfolio basis.

During our audit of the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 we continued to focus on
the key drivers of the estimation of ECL. Apart from
assessing the continued appropriateness of
management assumptions, updates to key parameters,
new assumptions and enhancements, largely driven by
the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, were evaluated
and tested. Discussions with the Audit Committee and
Management included:

assumptions around inputs and adjustments to
ECL, in particular changes to risk factors and
other inputs within the Bank’s models, in
respect of which we provided updates on the
results of our testing procedures;

the application of forward economic guidance,
including the severity and magnitude of
modelled scenarios, particularly in the context
of the potential future impacts of the Covid-19
pandemic;

considerations around significant assumptions
used by the management in determining LGD
parameters, specifically in a number of lending
arrangements which exhibit a higher risk of
estimation uncertainty.

With respect to the ECL models utilised by the Bank, the
continued appropriateness of the modelling policies and
methodologies used was independently assessed by
reference to the requirements of IFRS 9.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Key audit

matter

The Bank uses an ECL model that relies on risk
parameters, specifically PDs determined at a
country/product level to capture similar credit
risk characteristics of portfolios. These
assumptions are based on internally developed
statistical models and historical development
data derived from the Bank’s own experience as
available at the reporting date.

The output PD is then adjusted using a linear
scalar approach to reflect macroeconomic
conditions in the Bank’s territories of operation.

The LGD used for the Bank’s consumer-lending
portfolio is driven by estimates of loss rates and
loss severities (e.g. the valuation of recoveries
from loan portfolio sales), taking into
consideration other assumptions, including the
impact of discounting of recoveries from the
date of realisation back to the date of default.
The loss severities for the consumer-lending
portfolios also take into account the Bank’s
recovery history from internal debt collection
activities and customer repayments.

The LGD modelling methodology utilises
historical experience, which might result in
limitations in its reliability to appropriately
estimate ECLs especially during periods
characterised by unprecedented economic
conditions such as those currently experienced
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.

Under IFRS 9, the Bank is required to formulate
and incorporate multiple forward-looking
economic conditions, reflecting management’s
view of potential future economic developments,
into the ECL estimates. A number of macro-
economic scenarios based on the selected
macro-economic variables are considered to
capture non-linearity across the Bank’s
consumer-lending portfolios. The complexity
attributable to this factor requires management
to develop multiple macro-economic scenarios
involving the use of significant judgements. The
Bank utilises a statistical methodology to
generate the economic inputs applied within the
ECL models.

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

We understood and critically assessed the models
used for ECL estimation in the Bank’s consumer
lending portfolios. Since modelling assumptions and
parameters are based on historic data, we assessed
the impact that the unprecedent circumstances
brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic have on the
adequacy of key model parameters since the latter are
based on historical experience that is not necessarily
reflective of the current level of credit risk within the
portfolios. The appropriateness of management’s
judgements was also independently considered in
respect of calculation methodologies, calibration of
PDs and LGDs, segmentation, and selection of
macroeconomic variables. Model calculations were
also tested independently.

Substantive procedures were performed as follows:

e Performed an overall assessment of the ECL
provision levels by stage to determine if they
were reasonable considering the Bank’s
portfolio, risk profile, credit risk management
practices and the macroeconomic
environment.

e Reviewed and challenged the staging criteria
adopted by management (including the
definition of default) on the basis of the
specific nature and contractual characteristics
of the Bank’s consumer lending products.

o Tested the completeness and accuracy of the
critical data, extracted from the underlying
systems, utilised within the models for the
purpose of the year-end ECL calculation.

e Riskbased testing of models including
independent re-build of certain assumptions,
such as, the estimation of PDs for each sub-
portfolio (at a territory and product level) and
the re-estimation of ageing buckets on the
basis of borrower days past due information at
the reporting date.

e Tested the mathematical accuracy of the
model.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Key audit matter

The outbreak of Covid-19 and the government
support and relief measures adopted to
mitigate it have significantly impacted macro-
economic factors such as unemployment,
Gross Domestic Product (‘GDP’) and (‘PDI’)
increasing the uncertainty around judgements
made in determining the severity and
likelihood of macroeconomic forecasts across
the different economic scenarios used in ECL
models. Overly sensitive ECL modelled
outcomes can be observed when current
conditions fall outside the range of historical
experience.

Data used in the impairment calculation is
sourced from a number of systems, including
systems that are not necessarily used for the
preparation of the accounting records. This
increases risk around completeness and
accuracy of certain data used to create
assumptions and operate the models. In some
cases, data is unavailable and reasonable
alternatives have been applied to allow
calculations to be performed.

Since the estimation of ECLs is subjective in
nature and inherently judgemental, the Bank’s
application of the IFRS 9 impairment
requirements is deemed to be an area of focus,
especially in the context of COVID-19, which

has an unprecedented impact on the respective

territories’ economy and has significantly
increased the level of estimation uncertainty
around the calculation of credit loss
allowances.

How our audit addressed the Key audit
matter

Tested the multiple macro-economic scenarios
and variables using our economic experts to
assess their reasonableness. We assessed the
base case and alternative economic scenarios,
including challenging probability weights. We
assessed whether the severity of the forecasted
macroeconomic variables was appropriate in
view of the pandemic and the high level of
uncertainty surrounding the economic
conditions. We challenged the correlation and
impact of the macroeconomic factors on the
ECL.

Reviewed and challenged the assumptions
adopted by the Bank in respect of loan
portfolio sales impacting its LGD calculation,
including both under contractual forward-flow
agreements and one-off sale transactions.
With respect to lending arrangements which
during 2021 were not subject to a contractual
forward-flow agreement, and accordingly
subject to a higher risk of estimation
uncertainty, we challenged management’s
recovery assumptions, developed stress
scenarios and considered the sensitivity of the
ECL to such assumptions.

Based on the evidence obtained, we found the
assumptions, calculations and data used within the
model to be reasonable.

10
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Accordingly, summarising the key areas In the case of some impairment provisions, we formed

relevant to the bank’s measurement of a different view from that of management, but in our

expected credit losses (ECLs) would include: view the differences were within a reasonable range of
- allocation of assets to stage 1, 2, or 3 outcomes.

using criteria in accordance with IFRS 9;

- accounting interpretations and modelling
assumptions used to build the models
that calculate the ECL, including the
determination of assumed future debt
sale recovery prices in the LGD
parameter;

- completeness and accuracy of data used
to calculate the ECL; and

- inputs and assumptions used to estimate
the impact of multiple macro-economic
scenarios.

Since the estimation of ECLs is subjective in
nature and inherently judgemental, the Bank’s
application of the IFRS 9 impairment
requirements is deemed to be an area of focus.

We focused on credit loss allowances due to
the subjective nature of specific data inputs
into the calculation and the subjective
judgements involved in both timing of
recognition of impairment and the estimation
of the size of any such impairment.

Relevant references in the Annual report and
Financial statements:

- Accounting policy: Note 1.4;

- Credit risk management: Note 2.2.2;

- Note on Loans and advances to
customers: Note 6, and

- Critical accounting estimates and
judgements in applying accounting
policies: Note 3.

11
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’
report, the Five Year summary, Shareholder register information and the Additional Regulatory
Disclosures (but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon except as explicitly stated within the Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with governance for the financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act
(Cap. 386), and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

12
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this
statement is not a guarantee as to the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. In particular, it
is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications that COVID-19 will have on the Bank’s assets
and liabilities and the disruption to the respective operations and the overall economy.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

13
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021 contains other areas required by legislation or
regulation on which we are required to report. The Directors are responsible for these other areas.

The table below sets out these areas presented within the Annual Report, our related responsibilities
and reporting, in addition to our responsibilities and reporting reflected in the Other information
section of our report. Except as outlined in the table, we have not provided an audit opinion or any form
of assurance.

Area of the Annual Our responsibilities Our reporting
Report and Financial

Statements 2021 and
the related Directors’

responsibilities
Directors’ report We are required to consider In our opinion:
(on pages 1 to 4) whether the information given in . . o
the Directors’ report for the e the information given in the

The Maltese Companies

Act (Cap. 286 . financial year for which the Directors’ report for the
¢ (. 2p- 380) requires financial statements are financial year for which the
the dlrect’ors to prepare a prepared is consistent with the financial statements are
Directors’ eport, which financial statements. prepared is consistent with

includes the contents

- the financial statements; and
required by Article 177 of

the Act and the Sixth We are also required to express e the Directors’ report has

Schedule to the Act. an opinion as to whether the been prepared in accordance
Directors’ report has been with the Maltese Companies
prepared in accordance with the Act (Cap. 386).

applicable legal requirements.
We have nothing to report to you

In addition, we are required to in respect of the other

state whether, in the light of the responsibilities, as explicitly
knowledge and understanding of stated within the Other

the Bank and its environment information section.

obtained in the course of our
audit, we have identified any
material misstatements in the
Directors’ report, and if so to give
an indication of the nature of any
such misstatements.

14



Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Area of the Annual
Report and Financial

Our responsibilities

Statements 2021 and
the related Directors’

Our reporting

responsibilities

Other matters prescribed by
the Maltese Banking Act
(Cap. 371)

In terms of the requirements of
the Maltese Banking Act (Cap.
371), we are also required to
report whether:

e we have obtained all the
information and explanations
which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were
necessary for the purpose of our
audit;

e proper books of account have
been kept by the bank, so far as
appears from our examination of
those books;

e the Bank’s financial
statements are in agreement with
the books of account;

e in our opinion, and to the
best of our knowledge and
according to the explanations
given to us, the financial
statements give the information
required by any law which may
from time to time be in force in
the manner so required.

In our opinion:

e we have obtained all the
information and
explanations which to the
best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the
purpose of our audit;

e  proper books of account
have been kept by the Bank,
so far as appears from our
examination of those books;

e the Bank’s financial
statements are in agreement
with the books of account;
and

e to the best of our knowledge
and according to the
explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the
information required by any
law in force in the manner
so required.

Other matters on which we are
required to report by exception

We also have responsibilities under

the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.
386) to report to you if, in our

opinion adequate accounting records

have not been kept, or returns

adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by

us.

We have nothing to report to

you in respect of these

responsibilities.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of Ferratum Bank plc

Other matter — use of this report

Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Bank’s shareholders as a
body in accordance with Article 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed
by our prior written consent.

Appointment

We were first appointed as auditors of the Bank on 9 May 2012. Our appointment has been renewed
annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement
appointment of 10 years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
78, Mill Street

Zone 5, Central Business District
Qormi

Malta

e n Mamo
rtner

22 April 2022
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FERRATUM BANK PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Statement of financial position

ASSETS

Balances with Central Banks

Loans and advances to banks

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to group companies
Investment in securitisation portfolio
Right of use asset

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Other assets

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital

Capital contribution reserve
Other reserves

Retained earnings

Total equity

Liabilities

Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Lease liability

Other liabilities

Current tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

MEMORANDUM ITEMS
Commitments

As at 31 December

2021 2020

Notes €000 €000
4 138,921 96,334
5 48,165 56,303
6 323,932 241,207
7 15,486 14,875
8 60,685 7,629
9 805 2,212
10 640 786
11 1,256 1,320
12 - 4,168
13 10,029 16,106
599,919 440,940

14 10,000 10,000
15 60,500 42,500
16 2,592 2,592
28,747 33,223

101,839 88,315

17 486,040 340,427
18 297 -
9 776 2,247
19 8,757 8,462
2,210 1,489

498,080 352,625

599,919 440,940

20 6,515 4,530

The notes on pages 21 to 117 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 17 to 117 were authorised for issue by the boafd bp 22 April 2022 and were signed

on its behalf by:

Director

Borg

Victor Denato
Director
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FERRATUM BANK PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020

Notes €000 €000

Interest and similar income 21 137,702 134,093
Interest and similar expense 22 (4,200) (4,403)
Net interest income 133,502 129,690
Fee and commission income 23 1,918 2,027
Fee and commission expense 23 (9,621) (7,790)
Net fee and commission expense (7,703) (5,763)
Net trading expense 24 (86) -
Total operating income 125,713 123,927
Employee compensation and benefits 26/27 (7,779) (7,701)
Other operating costs 25 (48,867) (41,805)
Depreciation and amortisation 25 (1,349) (2,561)
Credit impairment losses 6 (52,221) (562,512)
Profit before tax 15,497 19,348
Tax expense 28 (4,973) (399)
Profit for the year — total comprehensive income 10,524 18,949

The notes on pages 21 to 117 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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FERRATUM BANK PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Statement of changes in equity

Notes Capital
Share contribution Other Retained Total
capital reserve reserves earnings equity
€000 €°000 €000 €000 €°000
At 1 January 2020 10,000 39,500 1,839 15,027 66,366
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - - 18,949 18,949
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 18,949 18,949
Transfers and other movements 16 - - 753 (753) -
Transactions with owners
Capital contribution from
shareholders 15 - 3,000 - - 3,000
Total transactions with owners - 3,000 - - 3,000
Balance at 31 December 2020 10,000 42,500 2,592 33,223 88,315
Balance at 1 January 2021 10,000 42,500 2,592 33,223 88,315
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - - 10,524 10,524
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 10,524 10,524
Transactions with owners
Capital contribution from
shareholders 15 - 18,000 - - 18,000
Dividends 30 - - - (15,000) (15,000)
Total transactions with owners - 18,000 - (15,000) 3,000
Balance at 31 December 2021 10,000 60,500 2,592 28,747 101,839

The Notes on pages 21 to 117 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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FERRATUM BANK PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest and commission receipts
Interest and commission payments
Net trading expense

Income tax paid

Payments to employees and suppliers

Cash flows from operating profit before changes
in operating assets and liabilities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans and advances to group companies
Loans and advances to customers
Amounts owed to customers
Amounts paid in favour of Depositor Compensation
Scheme

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investment in securitisation portfolio
Purchase of property and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of lease liability

Repayment of debt securities in issue
Shareholders’ contribution

Dividends paid to equity holders of the Bank

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Notes

10
11

15
30

29

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020
€000 €000
139,461 136,091
(13,649) (10,971)
(61) -
(84) (857)
(50,373) (71,578)
75,294 52,685
(611) 10,270
(134,054) (94,342)
145,441 98,008
(562) (216)
85,508 66,405
(52,897) (7,600)
(89) (114)
(337) (702)
(53,323) (8,416)
(736) (967)
- (40,000)
18,000 3,000
(15,000) .
2,264 (37,967)
34,449 20,022
152,637 132,615
187,086 152,637

The notes on pages 21 to 117 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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FERRATUM BANK PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Notes to the financial statements

1.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and with the requirements
of the Banking Act, 1994 and the Maltese Companies Act, 1995. These financial statements are
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair valuation of certain financial
assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value.

During 2021 the Board continued to evaluate the effects that the COVID-19 pandemic had on the
business of the Bank. Due to the negative effect that the pandemic is having on the worldwide
economies, the Bank continued to assess credit management process, the financial performance
and the projected level of business and anticipated regulatory position for the next twelve months.

Based on the outcome of the cash flow projections, the Directors and senior management consider
the going concern assumption in the preparation of the Bank’s financial statements as appropriate
as at the date of authorisation for issue of the 2021 financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the
use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgement in the
process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies (see note 3 — Critical accounting estimates, and
judgements in applying accounting policies).

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2021

In 2021, the Bank adopted new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards
that are mandatory for the Bank’s accounting period beginning on 1 January 2021. The adoption of
these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU did not result in substantial
changes to the Group’s accounting policies.

The IASB published ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16’ in August 2020, which became effective from 1 January 2021. These
amendments represent the second phase of the IASB’s project on the effects of interest rate
benchmark reform, addressing issues affecting financial statements when changes are made to
contractual cash flows, as a result of the reform.

Under these amendments, changes made to a financial instrument that are economically equivalent
and required by interest rate benchmark reform, do not result in the derecognition or a change in the
carrying amount of the financial instrument, but instead require the effective interest rate to be
updated to reflect the change in the interest rate benchmark.
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FERRATUM BANK PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.1 Basis of preparation - continued
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2021 - continued

The Bank has evaluated the extent of the discontinuation of the IBOR rates on the Bank’s financial
statements. The Bank will not be impacted by the Interest Rate Benchmark Reform, given that the
Bank’s portfolios, particularly the Loans and Advances to Customers, predominantly carry a Fixed
interest rate, except for a minor portion of loans and advances granted to the Bank’s customers in
Sweden and Poland, which loans have a Floating rate element but are however specifically
determined by their respective Central banks, thus the Central Bank of Sweden and Central Bank of
Poland.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards which are mandatory
for accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2022 have been published by the date of
authorisation for issue of this financial information. The Bank has not early adopted these
requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the Bank’s directors are of the opinion that, there
are no requirements that will have a possible significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements
in the period of initial application.

1.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are
presented in euro, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

1.3 Financial assets
1.3.1 Initial recognition and measurement

The Bank recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Accordingly, the Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when
recording financial asset transactions.

At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value plus or minus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are
incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset, such as fees
and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for
financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at fair
value through other comprehensive (FVOCI), which results in an accounting loss being recognised
in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.3 Financial assets — continued

1.3.1 Initial recognition and measurement - continued

When the fair value of financial assets differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the Bank
recognises the difference as follows:

- When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset (i.e. a
Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the
difference is recognised as a gain or loss.

- In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit
or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until
the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through
settlement.

1.3.2 Classification and subsequent measurement
The Bank applies IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- Fair value through profit or loss;
- Fair value through other comprehensive income; or
- Amortised cost.

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer's
perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds, investment in securitisation portfolio and
trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

(i) the Bank's business model for managing the asset; and
(if) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors the Bank classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three
measurement categories:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVPL,
are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected
credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described in note 1.4. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in 'Interest and similar income' using the effective interest rate
method.

- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses
on the instrument's amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss and recognised in 'Net Investment income'. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.3 Financial assets — continued

1.3.2 Classification and subsequent measurement — continued
Debt instruments

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI, are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL and is not part of a hedging relationship, is recognised in profit or loss and
presented in the profit or loss statement within 'Net trading expense' in the period in which it
arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were designated at fair value or which are
not held for trading, in which case they are presented separately in 'Net investment income'.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective
interest rate method.

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at
initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount
and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums
or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such
as origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired ('POCI'") financial assets - assets that
are credit-impaired at initial recognition - the Bank calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest
rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its gross
carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows.

When the Bank revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective
financial asset or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original
effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

The Bank reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following
the change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the period.

The Bank’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise primarily of balances with Central
Banks, loans and advances to banks, loans and advances to customers, investment in securitisation
portfolio and loans and advances to group companies.

(a) Business model assessment

Key management personnel determine the Bank’s business model by considering the way financial
instruments are managed in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Bank's objective is
solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash
flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial
assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 'other'
business model and measured at FVPL. Such assessment is performed at a ‘portfolio level' as it best
reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.3 Financial assets — continued

1.3.2 Classification and subsequent measurement - continued
Debt instruments - continued

(a) Business model assessment - continued

The information that will be considered in such assessment includes:

o the objectives for the portfolio including whether management’s strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the
duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets
or realising cash flows through the sale of assets;

e the method for the evaluation of the performance of the portfolio and how such performance
is reported to the Bank’s management;

e the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed; and

e the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not
considered in isolation but as part of an overall assessment of how the Bank’s stated
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading and those that are managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis will be measured at FVPL because they are neither held to collect
contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
Securities held for trading are held principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or are part
of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.

The Bank may also irrevocably designate financial assets at FVPL if doing so significantly reduces
or eliminates a mismatch created by assets and liabilities being measured on different bases.

(b) Cash flows that represent solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI)

In respect of assets where the intention of the business model is to hold the financial assets to collect
the contractual cash flows or to hold to collect and to sell, the Bank assesses whether the financial
instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the ‘SPPI test). In
making this assessment, the Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with
a basic lending agreement. ‘Principal’ is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. It is
not the amount that is due under the contractual terms of an instrument. ‘Interest’ is the compensation
for time value of money and credit risk of a basic lending-type return. A basic lending-type return
could also include consideration for other basic lending risks (for example, liquidity risk) and
consideration for costs associated with holding the financial asset for a particular period of time (for
example, servicing or administrative costs) and/or a profit margin. Where the contractual terms
introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the
related financial asset is classified and measured at FVPL.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.3 Financial assets — continued

1.3.2 Classification and subsequent measurement - continued

Debt instruments — continued

(b) Cash flows that represent solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI)

Unlike the business model assessment, the SPPI assessment is performed for each individual
product or portfolio of products. The following considerations are made when assessing consistency
with SPPI:

e contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows such as contractual
term resetting interest to a higher amount in the event of a missed payment;

e leverage features, being contractual cash flow characteristics that increase the variability of the
contractual cash flows with the result that they do not have economic characteristics of interest;

e contractual terms that allow the issuer to prepay (or the holder to put a debt instrument back to
the issuer) before maturity and the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid
amounts of principal and interest, which may include reasonable compensation for early
termination of the contract;

e contractual terms that allow the issuer or holder to extend the contractual term and the terms of
the extension option result in contractual cash flows during the extension period that are solely
payments of principal and interest, which may include reasonable compensation for the
extension of the contract; and

e features that modify consideration for the time value of money (for example, periodic reset of
interest rates).

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective,
that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual
interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments at FVPL, except where the Bank's
management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at
FVOCI. The Bank's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are
held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value
gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss,
including on disposal.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Bank's right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included in the 'Net trading expense’ line in the
income statement.
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Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.4 Impairment of financial assets

The Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (‘ECLs’) associated with
its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Bank recognises a loss allowance for such
losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECLs reflects:

i. An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes;

i. The time value of money; and

iii. Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Note 2.2.5 provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.
Expected credit loss allowances are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

e  Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount
of the assets;

e Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;

e  Financial instrument with both a drawn and undrawn component, whereby the Bank cannot
identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn
component: the Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both components, as a
deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component; and

e  Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of
financial position against the carrying amount of the asset because the carrying amount of
these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in
the fair value reserve, i.e. presented within other comprehensive income.

1.5 Modification of financial assets

A Modification occurs when there is a change in the contractual cash flows of a financial asset as a
result of a modifications or renegotiations to the terms and conditions of the underlying loan
agreement finalised with the borrower. The Bank’s terms and conditions of-consumer loans generally
include clauses allowing customers to request modifications to the terms and conditions as a value-
added product feature. These modifications can take different forms, can happen at different stages
during the maturity period of the loan, and are not considered as forbearance as defined by EU
Regulation 575/2013 (‘CRR2).

The following are the most widely used modification clauses incorporated in terms and conditions by
the Bank:

i. Rescheduling

Rescheduling is applied in short-term credit products where the customer requests an extension
of the maturity period of up to one month in consideration of a fee payable to the Bank at the
time that the rescheduling is accepted. The extension period varies in different markets but is
pre-established by the Bank as part of the product feature. The upfront payment of a
rescheduling fee is a pre-condition for the modification to be accepted and for the loan term to
be extended. The rescheduling is not tied to the lack of repayment capabilities of the customer
and indeed, this upfront payment requirement, together with the short-term of the extension
period, is considered inconsistent with the profile of a customer who is experiencing financial
difficulties.
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Summary of significant accounting policies — continued
1.5 Modification of financial assets - continued
ii. Payment Holidays

Payment holidays are a standard feature of the Bank’s credit line facility which allow customers
who are repaying on time to request the Bank to reduce the monthly minimum payment to zero
on not more than two occasions in any twelve-month period. The customer’s request will not be
accepted unless the customer has been paying on time.

Additionally, the Bank incorporates the following modification options for its customers under the
terms and conditions of its long-term credit products:

iii. Due date change

Generally, the repayment date is assigned by the Bank thirty days after the loan agreement date
and recurs monthly thereafter. This product feature allows customers to change the monthly
payment due date to one that is more convenient for them. The new payment due date will apply
throughout the maturity period of the loan, unless subsequently modified. This modification is not
granted due to the customers experiencing financial difficulties; the customers simply continue
to pay their monthly instalments on a different day of the month.

iv. Modification to the payment schedule

During the term of the loan, the customer may choose to modify the standard maturity date and
payment schedules included in the loan agreement by increasing the number of monthly
instalments, and thus extending the maturity period of the loan. This gives customers more
flexibility through tailor-made payment schedules.

v. Payment-free month

Long-term credit products allow for the customer to apply for a payment-free month under terms
and conditions prescribed by the Bank. The policy under which a payment-free month may be
granted includes the conditions that the loan must have been open for a number of months as
specified in the policy and that the customer must have been making timely repayments. This
modification is not granted to customers who are experiencing financial difficulties, but is meant
to make the products better adapted to the customers’ needs.

Taking cognisance of the principles highlighted above, given that the terms are not substantially
different, the modification is not expected to result in derecognition, and the Bank recalculates the
gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a
modification gain or loss in profit or loss if material.

If the terms are substantially different, the Bank derecognises the original financial asset and
recognises a 'new' asset at fair value, and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset.
The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for
impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant
increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Bank would also assess whether the new financial
asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances
where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed
payments. Differences in the carrying amount would also be recognised in profit or loss as a gain or
loss on derecognition.
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Summary of significant accounting policies — continued
1.5 Modification of financial assets — continued

The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original
effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets). The impact of modifications of financial assets on the expected credit loss
calculation is discussed in note 2.2.12.

Interest rate benchmark reform

If the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability
measured at amortised cost changes as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, then the Bank
updates the effective interest rate of the financial asset or financial liability to reflect the change that
is required by the reform. A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required
by interest benchmark reform if the following conditions are met:

e The change is necessary as direct consequence of the reform; and
e The new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis — i.e. the basis immediately before the change.

If changes are made to a financial asset or financial liability in addition to changes to the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows required by interest rate benchmark reform, then the Bank
first updates the effective interest rate of the financial asset or financial liability to reflect the change
that is required by interest rate benchmark reform. After that, the Bank applies the policies on
accounting for modifications set out above to the additional changes.

1.6 Derecognition other than a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the
cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Bank
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Bank neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Bank has not retained control.

The Bank enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from
assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as ‘pass through’
transfers that result in derecognition if the Bank:

i. Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets;
ii. Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
iii. Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

1.7 Derivative financial instruments
The Bank deploys no hedging strategies that achieve hedge accounting in terms of IFRS 9.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into, and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained
from valuation techniques for over-the-counter derivatives, including discounted cash flow models.
All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is
negative. Fair values for currency forwards are determined using forward exchange market rates at
the end of the reporting period. Discounting techniques, reflecting the fact that the respective
exchange or settlement will not occur until a future date, are used when the time value of money has
a significant effect on the fair valuation of these instruments.
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Summary of significant accounting policies — continued
1.7 Derivative financial instruments - continued

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are
recognised immediately in profit or loss. The Bank uses derivatives such as cross currency swaps
and forward foreign exchange contracts.

1.8 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.9 Intangible asset

Intangible assets are recognised when they are separable or arise from contractual or other legal
rights, and their fair value can be measured reliably.

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives once
the software has been put into use. Software has a maximum expected useful life of 7 years.

Intangible assets are subject to impairment review if there are events or changes in circumstances
that indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Trademarks, licences and rights with indefinite useful life are tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and are carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

1.10 Property and equipment

All property and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the financial year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

%
Furniture and fittings 12.5
Computer hardware 25
Office equipment 25

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 1.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in profit or loss.
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1.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’'s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating units). The impairment test
can also be performed on a single asset when the fair value less costs to sell or the value in use can
be determined reliably.

1.12 Other receivables

Other receivables are amounts due to the Bank for services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-current assets.

Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provisions for impairment (note 1.4). The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account, and the amount of the
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account for trade and other receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited in profit or loss.

1.13 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority.
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1.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

1.15 Financial liabilities

1.15.1 Initial recognition and measurement

The Bank recognises a financial liability on its statement of financial position when it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial liabilities not at FVPL are recognised
initially at fair value, being the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or the issue of the financial liability.

1.15.2 Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:

e Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to derivatives,
financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the trading book) and other financial
liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities
designated at FVPL are presented partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in market
conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of
change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or
enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to changes
in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss;

e Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for
derecognition, whereby a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the
transfer. In subsequent periods, the Bank recognises any expense incurred on the financial
liability; and

e Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments (see note 1.17).

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise principally amounts owed to banks,
amounts owed to customers, debt securities in issue together with other liabilities.

1.15.3 Derecognition

The Bank derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position when the obligation
specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, is cancelled or expires.

The exchange between the Bank and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially
different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using
the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
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1.16 Other liabilities

Other liabilities comprise obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business. Other liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

1.17 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are issued by the
Bank to financial institutions and other entities on behalf of customers to secure micro-loans and
other credit related products.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at
higher of:

e The amount of the loss allowance (calculated as described in note 1.4); and
e The premium received on initial recognition less income recognised in accordance with the
principles of IFRS 15.

'Loan commitments' are the Bank’s commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and
conditions and are measured as the amount of the loss allowance (calculated as described in note
1.4).

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognised as a
provision. However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Bank
cannot separately identify the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment component from
those on the loan component, the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment are recognised
together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined expected credit losses
exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses are recognised as a
provision.

1.18 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within
‘interest income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the profit or loss using the effective interest method. The
effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.

The Bank’s income streams consist of process fees, rescheduling fees (charged when a customer
applies to extend the repayment date), reminder fees (charged when reminder actions are effected
with respect to a loan) and other fees and interest charged on revolving and longer term credit
products. All these fees are considered to be an integral part of the effective interest rate of the loans
and advances taking cognisance of the nature of these fees, the purposes for which these fees are
assessed and the substance of the services provided. Accordingly, these fees are amortised to profit
or loss using the effective interest method over the expected term of the instruments and presented
within ‘Interest and similar income’.
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1.18 Interest Income and expense - continued

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums
or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such
as origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired ('POCI") financial assets - assets
that are credit-impaired at initial recognition - the Bank calculates the credit-adjusted effective
interest rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its
gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future
cash flows.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
financial assets, except for:

e POCI financial assets, for which the original credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied
to the amortised cost of the financial asset;

e Financial assets that are not 'POCI' but have subsequently become credit-impaired (or 'stage
3'), for which interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their
amortised cost (i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision).

1.19 Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been
provided. Fee and commission expense, relating mainly to transaction and service fees and sales
commissions, which are not considered to be part of the effective interest rate calculation are
expensed as the services are rendered.

1.20 Net trading income or expense

The line item includes fair value changes, interest, dividends and foreign exchange differences
attributable to financial instruments measured at FVPL. Net income or expense from derivatives
(such as cross-currency swaps and forward exchange contracts) is included within this line item.

1.21 Leases

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

» fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

* variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;

* amounts expected to be payable by the group under residual value guarantees;

* the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is reasonably certain to exercise that option,
and

* payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the group exercising
that option.
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1.21 Leases - continued

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right of use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
* the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received,
* any initial direct costs, and
* restoration costs.

1.22 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ maturity from the date
of acquisition, including cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, together with borrowed funds
having the same maturity.

1.23 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Bank’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Bank’s financial
statements in the period in which the obligation to pay a dividend is established.
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Financial risk management
2.1 Introduction

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and these activities involve the analysis,
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. The Bank’s
aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse
effects on the entity’s financial performance.

The Board of directors oversees credit, market, funding and liquidity, operational and strategic
business risks. The Bank has developed an integrated risk management framework to identify,
assess, manage and report risks and risk adjusted returns.

The Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse risks, to set appropriate
risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-
to date information systems. The Board is responsible for the overall effectiveness of the risk
management function, which function is however carried out by the members of the Bank’s
management team.

Throughout this financial year, the Bank has made certain changes to its strategy, inter alia the
origination of longer-term credit products and further investment in securitisation portfolio. Whilst
actively working to mitigate its respective risks, the Bank has also affected updates to its risk policies
accordingly, in order to reflect these changes in its strategy.

The Board may delegate any of its powers to a Committee consisting, in most cases, of one or more
Directors. The Board establishes Committees in order to focus on specific risk areas and issues and
consider certain issues and functions in greater detail.

These Committees may only act in accordance with the powers and responsibilities delegated to
them by the Board, and in this regard, the extent to which a Committee is empowered to make
decisions is carefully defined.

The Bank’s governance structure comprises three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Risk Committee and the Remuneration Committee, as well as four Management Committees,
namely the Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO), the Executive Committee (EXCO), the
Credit Committee and the Reserving Committee.

The Bank’s Executive Committee (EXCO) is responsible to oversee the activities of the Bank and its
Management in the implementation of its strategy, and is accountable for the soundness of the
Bank’s lending portfolio and for the implementation of the Capital Requirements Directive (as
transposed into the Maltese regulatory framework) and capital allocation decisions.

The Bank’s Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) is responsible for managing assets, liabilities and
the overall financial position and is also responsible for the management of funding and liquidity
risks.

The Bank’s Risk Committee is responsible for overseeing the policy and framework for all banking
and operational risks, for developing and overseeing the risk management framework including the
Bank’s risk appetite and tolerance levels, for ensuring the ongoing execution of all risk policies, and
for ensuring that all risk controls operating throughout the Bank are in accordance with regulatory
requirements and best practices.

The Bank’s Credit Committee is responsible to ensure the effective management of the Bank’s credit
portfolio through the implementation of sound and transparent credit scoring and decision-making
processes around its various product lines.
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2.2 Credit risk
2.2.1 Introduction

The Bank’s Reserving Committee is primarily responsible for safeguarding the soundness of the
valuation of the Bank’s lending portfolio by inter alia ensuring that the Bank has appropriate credit
risk practices to determine adequate expected credit loss (ECL) allowances in accordance with IFRS
9, as well as, the Bank’s stated policies.

The Bank’s Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the adequacy and proper operation of
internal controls in individual areas of operation, overseeing the quality and integrity of the Bank’s
financial reports, monitoring the Bank’s compliance with legal, ethical and regulatory requirements,
and for recommending areas of improvement across the business.

The Bank’s Risk Management function has the overall responsibility for the development of the
entity’s risk strategy and the implementation of risk principles, framework, policies and related limits.

The Bank’s objective is to deploy an integrated risk management approach that ensures an
awareness of, and accountability for, the risks taken throughout the Bank and also to develop the
tools needed to address those risks. Strong risk management and internal controls are core elements
of the Bank’s strategy. The Bank has adopted a risk management and internal control structure,
referred to as the Three Lines of Defence, to ensure it achieves its strategic objectives while meeting
regulatory and legal requirements and fulfilling its responsibilities to shareholders, customers and
staff.

In the three lines of defence model, business line management is the first line of defence (including
those functions that are responsible for day-to-day operations and the Treasury function), the various
risk control and compliance oversight functions established by management represent the second
line of defence, and internal audit is the third. Each of these three “lines” play a distinct role within
the Bank’s wider governance framework. Although the Bank adopts a “three lines of defence” model,
it is worth mentioning the additional interaction between the bank and its regulatory bodies adds
further “lines of defence”, albeit they are not depended upon internally by the Bank to act in such
capacities.

The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial
loss for the Bank by failing to discharge an obligation.

Credit risk is the most important risk for the Bank’s business; accordingly management carefully
manages its exposure to this risk. Credit exposures arise principally through the Bank’s lending
activities in various European countries, together with the placement of liquidity with banks domiciled
in Malta and other European countries.

The Bank is also exposed to credit risk arising from the issuance of financial guarantee contracts to
entities granting micro-loans and other related credit products to individuals located in certain
European countries.

The Bank is also exposed to credit risk arising on its exposure to the investment in securitisation
portfolio in which the Bank holds Class A senior notes, which rank before the class B notes in the
applicable contractual priority payments. The securitisation vehicle invests in the portfolio of SME
loans and is subject to a continuous, and thorough monitoring and oversight process in order to
identify any financial instruments which require increased monitoring of performance. The Bank has
purchased Class A Notes, which are senior to the Class B Notes in terms of the applicable priority
of payments.
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2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.1 Introduction - continued

Credit exposures through advances to group undertakings located in Finland and operating balances
with other group undertakings located in European countries also give rise to credit risk.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank has adapted its credit risk management processes
for the purposes of identifying deterioration in credit risk within its portfolios and estimating expected
credit loss allowances using the best possible judgement.

In this context, key judgements in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic related to the heightened
level of macroeconomic uncertainty and the timelines of these effects and the assumptions
surrounding recovery profiles.

In this regard, management applied a higher level of expert judgement in order to assess the impact
of the pandemic on the Bank’s level of defaults, including evaluating the impact of government
support schemes in various different territories and regulatory relief measures on both the incidence
of default events and the severity of losses.

Judgement was also required in determining whether loans experienced a SICR or a UTP event. In
this respect, as part of management’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Bank has kept a
closer eye on the payment behaviour of customers in order to calibrate as necessary the loan
origination policies to limit the impact of the ECL. The Bank has not observed a material change in
the payment behaviour of its customer base. The Bank has successfully navigated through the
changing market environment in 2020 and 2021 and built an even stronger foundation of profitable
growth by transforming its operations for an even stronger foundation of scalability and agility.

2.2.2 Credit risk management
Loans and advances to customers

The Bank’s lending activities comprise the granting of short-term micro-loans, other medium-term
credit products, other amortising, long-term credit products with instalment repayment features and
revolving credit facilities (which are mostly unsecured) to individual customers in specific European
jurisdictions. All loans to customers are granted on the basis of the outcome of the scoring model,
depending on the loan type, and the rules embedded within the credit policy. Each lending transaction
and the related agreement are determined on the strength of an individual credit decision. All credit
decisions are handled and processed within the Bank’s internal loan handling system through the
application of both automated and manual processes.

The creditworthiness of potential customers is assessed by reference to the calculation of a credit
score for each loan application received and based on the customer’s specific affordability. The
relevant credit score is computed through the application scorecard for first time customers and
through the behaviour scorecard for repeat customers. Based on the credit score registered,
customers are grouped into risk classes. The respective risk class determines the maximum credit
amount allowable for each customer. The scoring model and linked scorecards are monitored by the
Risk management function of the Bank. These are applied in all jurisdictions in which the Bank
operates with specific adaptations at country level taking cognisance of the different characteristics
of each market; with the adaptations being centrally approved.

The scorecards are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the management team of the Bank and updated
according to market trends, political circumstances in the particular jurisdiction, legislative and socio-
economic changes.
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2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.2 Credit risk management - continued
Loans and advances to customers - continued

Prior to generation of internal scores, credit policy checks or underwriting actions are carried out
within the loan handling system referring to factors emanating from the Bank’s credit policy rules
such as applicant’s age, number of outstanding loans, existence of duplicate applications, reference
to Bank’s internal customer blacklist, previous loan repayment behaviour and linkage to external
collection company information.

These underwriting actions generate an internal credit score for the customer. Subsequently,
specifically designed underwriting actions are carried out to finalise the loan application review and
decision making process. These underwriting actions comprise requests for checks in relation to
existence of bad debts reported by credit agencies, requests for external credit scoring checks with
a view to checking external sources of credit information about the client, and requests for additional
checks in respect of certain customer details. The outcome of these underwriting actions is reflected
in the loan handling system and updates the scorecard in an automated manner. If the scored or
approved amount is higher than or equal to the requested amount, the loan is then approved.
Otherwise, the loan is approved up to the scored amount.

Expected credit loss (ECL) allowances are calculated in respect of the Bank’s short to medium -term
consumer credit loans at a collective portfolio level, as according to loan type, the portfolios consist
of a large pool of homogeneous loans which by nature cannot be considered individually significant.
The Bank’s ECL methodology is set out in extensive detail in note 2.2.5 below.

The Bank has a formal rigorous debt collection process that provides for the way the Bank deals with
past due loans and advances. This process is supported by procedures for use within the operations
in the respective territories with formal documented adaptations for the respective territories. The
procedures highlight the prescribed actions, channels and mechanisms utilised to follow up on
outstanding exposures indicating the precise point in time at which the respective actions are taken
and allocating roles and responsibilities in this respect.

These procedures also focus on the extent to which collection activities are carried out by the Bank
and the stage or phase at which external collection companies are utilised.

The Bank also enters into sale arrangements with third parties for the transfer of outstanding balances
in respect of certain credit products granted in specific territories once such balances reach pre-
established trigger points in terms of days past due. Such transfers take place at pre-established
levels of consideration. These arrangements constitute an intrinsic part of the Bank’s management
of past due and non-performing assets.

As a consequence of COVID-19, the Bank had to adapt quickly to fast-moving uncertain times not
only from an operational point of view (such as employees working from home for a prolonged period
of time) but also from a risk management point of view (particularly credit risk management). The
Bank successfully contained the negative impact of COVID-19 as the results for financial year ending
31 December 2021 show mostly due to effective procedures, controls and agility. The robustness of
the procedures in credit risk management already in place (such as bi-weekly credit forums, monthly
Credit Committee meetings, specialised employees focusing on different countries and the
monitoring of key risk indicators) prior to COVID-19 proved to be very effective.

The Bank is very diligent in its scorecard management to prevent certain borrowers from being
approved or granted further loans. The payment behaviour indicators are meticulously reviewed to
act on any warning signs of deteriorating payment behaviour very early. The Bank has an efficient
system in place which allows for the swift calibration of the underwriting scorecards.
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2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.2 Credit risk management - continued
Loans and advances to customers - continued

Banking Rule BR/09: Measures Addressing Credit Risks Arising from the Assessment of the Quality
of Asset Portfolios of Credit Institutions Authorised under the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 requires
banks to allocate funds to the General Banking Risks reserve for cover against potential risks linked
to the Bank’s non-performing loans and advances. In line with the requirements under Banking Rule
BR/09. At the reporting date, the balance of the reserve in this respect amounted to €1,519,000
(2020: €1,519,000).

The Bank also falls within the scope of paragraphs 45-53 of Banking Rule BR/09 which establishes
a framework for the deliberate and sustainable reduction of NPLs in banks’ balance sheets in line
with the European Central Bank’s Guidance to Banks on Non-performing Loans of March 2017. In
terms of BR/09, credit institutions with a two-year average NPL ratio exceeding 6% are to submit a
multi-year NPL Reduction Plan targeting the decrease in these exposures to the set target, as
required by paragraph 46 of BR/09. Ferratum Bank’s two-year average NPL ratio as at 31 December
2021 exceeded the 6% threshold. Accordingly, the Bank is preparing and will eventually submit an
NPL Reduction Plan in line with the requirements of BR/09 in April 2022. Moreover, the Bank is
required to accumulate a Reserve for Excessive NPLs in line with the requirements of Paragraphs
54-60 of BR/09. In this respect, the Bank has allocated a Reserve for Excessive NPLs amounting to
€1,073,000 (2020: €1,073,000).

Loans and advances to group companies

The advances to a group undertaking, Ferratum Capital Oy, which were outstanding at 31 December
2021 were primarily secured against the entire consumer lending portfolio of all group companies
that operate in the micro finance business. During 2016, the Bank had entered into a Foreign
Exchange Risk Agreement with this group company, where the latter provides cover to the Bank
over realised and unrealised foreign exchange differences. Any realised and unrealised gains or
losses attributable to foreign exchange rate movements registered by the Bank are allocated to the
group company at the end of each month, in line with the terms of this agreement. The terms of this
agreement stipulate fees payable by the Bank to the group company. As from 2021, the Bank started
to hedge a small portion of its foreign currency open positions with a third party financial institution.
The vast majority of the Bank’s foreign currency exposure remains to be fully hedged with the Group.

Operating balances with other group companies are monitored on an ongoing basis, taking
cognisance of the related party relationship, utilising a limit framework and reporting mechanism.
The balances are normally repayable within short periods of time. Repayment behaviour and
performance are reviewed in this respect.

Investment in securitisation portfolio

All exposures classified under investment in securitisation portfolio undergo a thorough analysis
process, not only from an internal credit perspective but also from a legal and financial perspective.
The Bank’s Credit Committee, which manages the credit analysis and research process, is
composed of highly-trained individuals with specialised skills. The securitisation vehicle invests in
the portfolio of SME loans and is subject to a continuous, and thorough monitoring and oversight
process in order to identify any financial instruments which require increased monitoring of
performance.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.2 Credit risk management - continued
Loans and advances to customers - continued
Other financial assets

The majority of the Bank’s cash is held with Central Banks. Other than cash held with Central Banks,
the Bank’s cash is dispersed amongst a large number of Banks, following limits set in the Bank’s
treasury management policy (TMP). Other receivables are assessed in line with large exposure limits
set in the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR).

Credit related commitments

The Bank issues financial guarantee contracts to other parties that grant micro-loans and other short-
term credit products. Financial guarantees represent irrevocable assurances to make payments in
the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, and carry the same credit risk
as loans. The Bank’s credit risk management framework applied to issuance of micro-loans and
related products, described in detail in the preceding sections, is utilised for management of issuance
of guarantee contracts. The entire micro-loan underwriting cycle from approval to monitoring is
considered appropriate for financial guarantee contracts as in substance the issuance of such
guarantees, covering micro-lending, is essentially considered to be micro-lending.

2.2.3 Credit risk measurement
(a) Loans and advances to customers

The Bank uses internal credit risk gradings (Note 2.2.10) to reflect its assessment of the probability
of default of individual counterparties. Internal credit risk gradings is based on payment behaviour of
the borrower

At onboarding stage, any known information about a borrower which impacts their creditworthiness
- such as unemployment and previous delinquency history - is assessed during the initial credit
assessment. After the date of initial recognition, for consumer lending facilities, the payment
behaviour of borrowers is monitored on an ongoing basis at a collective portfolio level.

(b) Investment in securitisation portfolio

The securitisation vehicle acquires receivables which are not defaulted, disputed or insolvent. The
portfolio is acquires loans consisting of current and 1-30 days past due exposures with an underlying
and estimated probability of default which is not in excess of 20%. The Bank is the holder of Class
A Notes, which are senior to the Class B Notes in terms of the applicable priority of payments and
thus also have a higher credit quality.

The management of ‘expected credit losses’ considers that an exposure varies with changes in
market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a
portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the
associated loss ratios and of default correlations between counterparties. The expected credit risk
of the underlying portfolio in SME loans which the securitisation vehicle invests in is measured using
Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is
consistent to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under
IFRS 9. Refer to note 2.2.5 for more details.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.3 Credit risk measurement - continued

(b) Investment in securitisation portfolio - continued

In this respect, the Bank actively assesses the securitisation portfolio for indications of impairment.
The Bank conducts periodical sensitivity analysis in relation to the respective portfolio, taking into
consideration plausible worst-case scenarios, in order to assess whether the Bank should provide
for expected credit losses. The outcome of such sensitivity analysis, coupled with the fact that a
substantial amount of potential losses would first be absorbed by Class B Notes holder, does not
reflect any need for the Bank to provide for expected credit losses.

(c) Other financial assets

Other financial assets include Balances with Central Bank of Malta and Central Bank of Lithuania,
loans and advances to banks and loans and advances to group companies. The Bank uses external
risk grades to reflect its assessment of the probability of default of individual counterparties. These
published grades are continuously monitored and updated. The PDs associated with each grade are
determined based on realised default rates over the prior 12 months, as published by rating agencies.

In determining the probability of default of individual counterparties, the Bank distinguishes between
exposures considered ‘investment-grade’ defined by recognized external rating agencies as a rating
between AAA-BBB- (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) and Aaa-Baa3 (Moody’s), and ‘non-investment grade’
exposures. Credit risk in other financial assets is also mitigated through limits set in the Bank’s
treasury management policy and in accordance with large exposure limits set in the CRR
respectively.

2.2.4 Categorisation of loans and advances to customers for ECL measurement

The Bank’s expected credit loss allowances on loans and advances to customers are modelled on a
collective basis. As a result, a grouping of exposures is performed on the basis of shared risk
characteristics, such that risk exposures within a group of financial assets are homogenous. In
performing this grouping, the Bank ensures that there is sufficient information for the group of
financial assets to be statistically credible. In this respect, the Bank considers the following categories
for ECL measurement of loans and advances to customers:

i. Micro-credit portfolios which are subject to bullet repayment characteristics; and
ii. Credit portfolios with instalment repayment features and revolving credit facilities,
iii. Other amortising, long-term credit products with instalment repayment features.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a 'three-stage' model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition as summarised below:

i. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in 'Stage
1" and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Bank.

ii. If a significant increase in credit risk ('SICR") since initial recognition is identified, the financial
instrument is moved to 'Stage 2' but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. Please refer to
note 2.2.5.1 for a description of how the Bank determines when a significant increase in
credit risk has occurred.

iii. If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to 'Stage
3'. Please refer to note 2.2.5.2 for a description of how the Bank defines credit-impaired and
default.

iv. Financial instruments in ‘Stage 1’ have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12
months. Instruments in ‘Stages 2 or 3’ have their ECL measured based on expected credit
losses on a lifetime basis. Please refer to note 2.2.5.3 for a description of inputs,
assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL.

v. A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider
forward looking information. Note 2.2.5.4 includes an explanation of how the Bank has
incorporated this in its ECL models.

Vi. Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis
(‘Stage 3).

Further explanation is also provided in respect of how the Bank determines appropriate groupings of
loans and advances to customers for ECL measurement (refer to note 2.2.4).

The expected credit loss requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost and
FVOCI, and certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. At initial recognition, an
impairment allowance (or provision in the case of commitments and guarantees) is required for ECL
resulting from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (“12-month ECL”). In the
event of a significant increase in credit risk, an allowance (or provision) is required for ECL resulting
from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument (“lifetime ECL”). In
line with the ‘three stage’ model described above, financial assets where 12-month ECL is
recognised are considered ‘Stage 1'. Financial assets which are considered to have experienced a
significant increase in credit risk would be classified as ‘Stage 2’ and financial assets for which there
is objective evidence of impairment, thus considered to be in default or otherwise credit-impaired,
would be classified as ‘Stage 3.

The Bank recognises loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL for debt investment in
securitisation portfolio that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. The Bank
considers a debt security to have low credit risk when it is considered ‘investment-grade’, defined by
recognised external rating agencies as a rating between AAA to BBB- (Standard & Poor’s and Fitch)
and Aaa to Baa3 (Moody’s).
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(Initial recognition) (Significant increase in credit (Credit-impaired financial
risk since initial recognition) assets)
12-month expected credit Lifetime expected credit losses | Lifetime expected credit losses
losses

2.2.5.1 Significant increase in credit risk

To determine whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative
information. Such analysis is based on the Bank’s historical experience, credit assessment and
forward-looking information.

The Bank’s consumer lending exposures are not managed on a credit-by-credit basis due to the high
volume of relatively low value and homogeneous exposures. As a result, it is not feasible to include
qualitative information based on an expert credit assessment performed on an individual credit basis.
On this basis, the Bank adopts a retail portfolio methodology which takes into account the nature of
the consumer lending exposures and the underlying credit risk management practices of the Bank.

The consumer lending portfolio comprises of credit facilities with bullet repayment or instalment loan
characteristics, revolving credit facilities as well as other amortising, long-term credit products with
instalment repayment features. Given how such retail facilities are originated and managed for
internal risk management purposes, consumer loans within a particular segment are expected to
have similar credit risk characteristics.

As a result, for loans and advances to customers, which are managed on a portfolio basis for credit
risk purposes, the Bank measures a significant increase in credit risk based on a quantitative
assessment driven by the delinquency status of borrowers (days past due). The Bank presumptively
considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs when an asset is more than 30 days past
due, in line with the backstop indicator established under IFRS 9. The Bank determines days past
due by counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full
payment has not been received. For year-ended 31 December 2021, the Bank assessed all the
different portfolios of loans and advances to customers by product and by country to determine
whether a significant increase in credit risk was observed. When the Bank identifies a significant
increase in credit risk in any of the portfolios, it shifts the calculation of ECL from 12-month to lifetime
as required by IFRS 9.

In view of the maturity and development of the respective credit portfolios and following the
assessment of historical default history, during 2021 the Bank has determined that SICR also occurs
in scenarios where, at a particular reporting period, debtors subject to a payment holiday (refer to
Note 1.5) eventually enter into a number of days in arrears (which are in the region between 5 and
10 days).
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued
2.2.5.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Bank did not experience sustained deterioration in the payment behaviour of the customers
during 2021 and therefore no significant increase in credit risk was attributable to COVID-19 directly.

The Bank’s assessment to determine the extent of increase in credit risk of a financial instrument
since initial recognition is performed by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over
the remaining life of the financial instrument.

IFRS 9 does not specifically define default, but requires it to be applied on a consistent basis with
internal credit risk management practice for the relevant instruments and requires consideration of
qualitative factors where appropriate. In addition, IFRS 9 also introduces a rebuttable presumption
that default does not occur later than when a financial asset is 90 days past due unless there is
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging criterion is appropriate.

In this respect, the Bank generally defines a financial instrument as in default (credit impaired and in
Stage 3 for impairment purposes), when the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material
credit obligation to the Bank. For certain portfolios, depending on the termination characteristics of
the respective product and country, as well as other factors such as contractual forward-flow
agreements in order to conduct regular sales of overdue loan facilities, the Bank defines a financial
instrument as in default when the borrower is more than 60 days past due on any material credit
obligation to the Bank.

The definitions of credit-impaired and default are aligned so that Stage 3 represents all loans which
are considered defaulted or credit-impaired. Whenever the Bank enters into a forward sale
agreement with a third party, the definition of default is usually aligned with the contractual days past
due under such agreement.

The default definition has been applied consistently to model the probability of default (PD), exposure
at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD) throughout the Bank's expected loss calculations.

In addition to the above, the Bank has an Arrears Management Policy to direct its credit portfolio
management strategy in certain territories with a view to improve its debt collection capabilities in
respect of overdue loan facilities. In achieving this strategy, the Bank prescribes four stages, these
being, (i) early collection stage, (ii) late collection stage carried out through third party management
and debt collection agencies, (iii) legal collections and (iv) debt sales. The Bank also seeks to extend
its debt collection period with customers in order to increase recoveries from loan repayments prior
to termination of loan contracts. Additionally, the Bank negotiates forward sale agreements with third
parties in order to conduct regular sales of overdue loan facilities subsequent to a greater level of
ageing that is sufficient to enable the Bank to perform its internal debt collection procedures for a
sufficiently extended period prior to sale. Subsequent to the aforementioned portfolio management
strategies being implemented, the Bank assesses the impact, if any, on the definition of default that
it uses in estimating IFRS 9 expected credit losses in the respective territories. Significant judgement
is required throughout this process, particularly in the event that changes to the impairment
methodology are required, such as revisions to the probabilities of default utilised in the expected
credit loss calculation.

Loans incepted through third-party fraud are deemed credit impaired.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.5.3 Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Bank considers other financial assets, mainly loans and advances to banks and investments in
debt securities and investment in securitisation portfolio respectively, to be in default when a payment
due (including a coupon payment) is not affected.

The Bank’s credit grading and monitoring systems are also in place to react to any early identification
and management of deterioration in loan quality. The Bank monitors the payment behaviour of its
clients and other key risk indicators at portfolio level and at cohort level. The latter is regarded as an
important metric as it tracks the behaviour of recent loans granted.

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or on a lifetime basis
depending on whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or
whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted
product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD).

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, EAD and LGD at a collective portfolio level as allowable
under IFRS 9 in the case of retail portfolios comprising individually insignificant exposures that are
homogenous in nature. These three components are multiplied together effectively calculating the
forward-looking ECL, which is then discounted back to the reporting date. The discount rate used in
the ECL calculation is the actual effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The 12-month ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD, LGD, and EAD. Lifetime ECL is
calculated on a similar basis for the residual life of the exposure.

The PD, EAD and LGD parameters are derived from internally developed statistical models and other
historical data, adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described below.

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per "definition
of default and credit-impaired" above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the
remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. Accordingly, the 12-month and lifetime PDs
represent the probability of default occurring over the next 12 months and the remaining maturity of
the instrument, respectively.

In the case of micro lending facilities with bullet repayment characteristics, the Bank utilises roll-rate
methodology in order to estimate its PDs. This methodology employs statistical analysis of historical
data and experience of delinquency and default to estimate the amount of loans that will eventually
be written off as unrecoverable. This methodology is applied at territory or country level with
adaptations to reflect the different nature of the respective markets in which the Bank operates.
Under this methodology, loans are grouped into ranges according to the number of days past due
and statistical analysis is used to estimate the likelihood that loans in each range will progress
through the various stages of delinquency, and ultimately prove irrecoverable (PD).
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.5.3 Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques
- continued

In the case of credit facilities with characteristics similar to instalment loans or revolving facilities, the
Bank utilises curve-stitching methodology in order to estimate its PDs. Under this approach, an
analysis of historical default data is carried out in order to estimate cumulative monthly loss rates at
various snapshot dates. Subsequently, statistical analysis is employed in order to combine curves
with different historical performance windows into a single PD curve over the expected lifetime of the
micro-credit exposures. This methodology is also applied at territory or country level in order to
incorporate adaptations to reflect the nature of the different markets in which the Bank operates.
Under this approach, loans are also grouped into ranges according to the number of days past due,
with an individual lifetime PD curve being calculated for each range.

The conditional PD is adjusted to consider forward-looking information through macroeconomic
modelling.

EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12
months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). EAD represents the expected
exposure in the event of a default (including any expected drawdowns of committed facilities).

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the total balance of loans receivable at
the reporting date, taking into account the total amount receivable from borrowers inclusive of
principal, interest and fees that are accounted for as part of the effective interest rate. This is deemed
an adequate representation of the expected balance at default in the case of the Bank’s credit
facilities given that the Bank models its ECLs on a collective portfolio level with the modelling of the
EAD for each future month on an individual loan-by-loan basis not being deemed practical.
Additionally, in the case of revolving credit facilities the Bank also factors in expected drawdowns of
committed facilities.

The Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Bank’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted
exposure. Hence, the LGD represents expected credit losses on the EAD given the event of default,
taking into account, among other attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral values (if any) at the
time it is expected to be realised and the time value of money. The LGD is determined based on the
factors which impact the recoveries made post default.

Given that its credit facilities are generally unsecured in nature, the Bank estimates LGD parameters
based on the history of recovery rates in respect of claims against defaulted customers, which rates
are highly impacted by collective debt recovery strategies. Moreover, the Bank’s LGDs comprise the
effects of the Bank’s ability to dispose of overdue loans originated in specific territories to other
parties at pre-established prices, that are dependent on the credit quality or ageing of the loans,
emanating from existing contractual arrangements. Estimated LGDs are also impacted by historical
one-off portfolio sales and the expected future uncontracted portfolio sales activity. Recoveries from
loan portfolio sales are calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using the contractual default
interest rate as the discounting factor.
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2. Financial risk management — continued
2.2 Credit risk — continued
2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement — continued

2.2.5.3 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques
- continued

The Bank has a number of forward flow agreements in place with third parties whereby loans and
advances which are more than certain days past due will be sold to the third party in batch at an
agreed price. The Bank is also capable of selling loans and advances on the market which it cannot
collect or recover internally in the form of debt sales. In respect of longer-term amortising products
where there is no experience of sales, the Bank has developed a number of scenarios. In a stressed
scenario which considers only collections, from customers and no debt sales, the Bank’s ECL would
increase by €2.4 million.

The ECL is measured from the initial recognition of the financial asset. The maximum period
considered when measuring ECL (be it 12-month or lifetime ECL) is the maximum contractual period
over which the Bank is exposed to credit risk. With respect to non-revolving credit facilities, the
contractual life of the facility is considered. In the case of revolving credit facilities, provided that such
facilities do not have a fixed term or repayment structure, the Bank defines the lifetime of such
exposures as 24 months in line with observed borrower behaviour in specific territories. The lifetime
of revolving credit facilities is re-assessed by the Bank at a territory level based on more recent
borrower behaviour patterns on a periodic basis.

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD
and LGD. Refer to note 2.2.5.4 for an explanation of forward-looking information and its inclusion in
ECL calculations.

The calculation of ECL incorporates forward-looking information. The Bank performs a historical
analysis to identify the key economic variables affecting credit risk and expected credit losses for
each product portfolio at a territory level. These economic variables and their associated impact on
the PD, EAD and LGD may vary by portfolio or territory.

2.2.5.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model

IFRS 9 requires issuers to estimate the ECL by taking into account “reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions”.

The Bank has identified key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial
instruments and using an analysis of historical data, has analysed relationships between
macroeconomic variables, credit risk and credit losses. This analysis was conducted at a territory
and sub portfolio level in order to take into consideration possible differences in customer behaviour
and default experience arising from different product characteristics.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.5.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model - continued

The impact of the economic variables on the PD have been determined by performing statistical
regression analysis to understand the impact that changes in these variables historically had on
default rates.

In those territories where due to certain risk data limitations, statistical relationships to
macroeconomic variables were not deemed to be statistically significant (e.g. in those territories
where the Bank has recently launched new products resulting in limited available historical default
experience), the Bank has utilised proxy statistical data available in other territories with close
geographical and demographic similarities.

The Bank has improved the reliability of its macroeconomic modelling approach by incorporating
multiple forward-looking economic conditions into its ECL estimates, which is mathematically more
enhanced than the previously used linear regression analysis. Other than the enhanced statistical
methodology, this updated model uses the country specific macroeconomic variable that is most
relevant as opposed to the Eurozone unemployment rates used by the previous linear model.

To be able to determine the way in which these economic conditions will be impacting the ECL
estimates, the Bank first performs an assessment to select the macroeconomic variable (‘MEV’)
which has the highest correlation to credit risk factors for a certain country and product. The Bank
does this through the implementation of a one-step Error Correction Model (‘ECM’). The ECM is a
multiple regression model that automatically corrects short-term deviations from the long-term
equilibrium relationship such that the defaulted loan amount is restored back to its long-term
equilibrium at a specific speed of adjustment.

Through the utilisation of this model the Bank has determined a set of three MEVs to which the
Bank’s portfolios are the most sensitive, namely Gross Domestic Product (‘GDP’), Personal
Disposable Income (‘PDI) and Unemployment Rate (‘UR’). The choice of macroeconomic variable to
be used for a particular country and product is determined through an optimised approach in which
the ECM is run separately for each of these variables. The variable that is ultimately applied for the
country / product is the one that produces the most statistically significant result.

In order to capture a range of possible future outcomes, three possible scenarios are considered in
the determination of the Bank’s ECL. The ‘base line’ scenario represents the most-likely outcome. It
is based on forecasted economic variables, provided by Oxford Economics, referred to above and
providing the best estimate view of each respective country within the Bank’s consumer lending
portfolio. Apart from the ‘base line’ scenario, the Bank considers two other macro-economic
scenarios — ‘Upside’ and ‘Downside’ scenarios — which respectively represent a more optimistic and
a more pessimistic outcome. Such scenarios reflect the current top and emergent risks and
opportunities. The more optimistic and more pessimistic scenarios are economically plausible and
will not necessarily be as severe as scenarios used in stress testing.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.5.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model - continued

Each scenario is weighted by a probability of occurrence, determined by a combination of
macroeconomic research and expert credit judgement, taking account the range of possible
outcomes each chosen scenario represents. The Bank measures ECL as either a probability
weighted 12-month ECL (Stage 1), or a probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3). These
probability-weighted ECLs are determined by running each scenario through the relevant ECL model
and multiplying it by the appropriate scenario weighting (as opposed to weighting the inputs).

As with any macro-economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to
a degree of uncertainty, and therefore, the actual outcomes may be different to those projected. The
Bank considers these forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes.

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario, which are unchanged from 2020 were 60%,
for the ‘Base’ scenario, 20% for the ‘Downside’ scenario and 20% for the ‘Upside’ scenario. The
number of scenarios used is based on the analysis of each major product type to ensure that non-
linearities are captured. The number of scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at each
reporting date. The probability weightings assigned to the respective scenarios reflect an unbiased
evaluation of range of possible outcomes.

ECL sensitivity analysis in respect of macroeconomic scenarios

Notwithstanding the significant number of assumptions and different aspects forming part of the
Bank’s methodology for modelling expected credit loss allowances in respect of exposures classified
within the Bank’s portfolios of financial instruments, the ECL measurement is deemed to be mostly
sensitive to the estimations made in respect of the modelling of the macroeconomic scenarios
described above, particularly as at 31 December 2021, due to the uncertainty induced by the COVID-
19 pandemic and the current supply-chain disruption.

In view of the above, the Bank assessed and is hereby presenting the sensitivity analysis in respect
of credit loss allowances for loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2021, estimated
by determining the range of credit loss allowances which would have been measured by assigning
a 100% weighting to each of the three macroeconomic scenarios developed as presented in the
table below.

(Decrease) / Increase in ECL (Decrease) / Increase in ECL

2021 2020

€000 €000

100% Base (179) (284)
100% Downside 5,936 4,107
100% Upside (5,448) (3,255)

On the basis of macroeconomic forecasts and data available at year end, the weightings applied
take into account the following:
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.5.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model - continued

For baseline scenario, the global economic outlook had become less positive than previously
assumed. As a result, Oxford Economics have revised down the baseline forecast for world GDP for
2022 to 4.5%. World GDP forecast has been downgraded on the basis of Covid-related disruption,
supply-chain bottlenecks and the squeeze on real incomes from higher CPI inflation. The ongoing
supply-chain crisis is now seen by businesses as an even greater threat to recovery than coronavirus
developments. But the global recovery remains volatile due to supply-side problems. Inflation
pressures are expected to ease, with world CPI inflation forecasted to fall from a peak of more than
5% in Q4 2021 to 3.0% by end of 2022. This will boost households’ spending power and will also
ease pressure on central banks to tighten policy aggressively.

For the downturn scenario, management has considered the current supply-chain disruption
scenario to be more severe in terms of outlook. In this scenario, current supply-chain disruptions
prove more persistent than assumed in the baseline forecast. Labour and material shortages persist
throughout 2022 and higher commodity and other input prices add to inflationary pressure. Supply
proves unable to keep pace with the recovery in demand, higher inflation squeezes real incomes and
financial markets weaken. In the near term, global economic recovery is far more muted than in the
baseline, with the level of GDP more than 2% below baseline in late 2022. Inflation is higher by as
much as 1ppt in the first year of the scenario. Supply-chain disruptions ease significantly from 2023.
This supports a robust recovery in supply, fuelled by delayed expenditure and demand.

An optimistic scenario was modelled for global economy in which consumers run down a large
proportion of the substantial savings accumulated during the pandemic at a faster pace than
assumed in the baseline. In this upside scenario, sentiment is boosted for households, businesses,
and investors. The result is a more robust, consumer-led global recovery in the near term. In the first
year of the scenario, global GDP rebounds to a level higher than that envisaged prior to the
coronavirus outbreak, with the level of GDP more than 1% above baseline in late 2022. The strength
of recovery ensures that the supply-side impact of the pandemic is minimised. At the end of the
scenario, the level of global GDP is comparable to the level anticipated prior to the crisis.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.5.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model - continued

The respective macro-economic variables used in the multiple regression were obtained from Oxford
Economics and were as follows:

As of 31 December 2021 2022 2023 2024

Bulgaria
Unemployment Rate
Annualised %

Baseline 5.06 4.66 4.62
Downside 5.97 4.60 4.35
Upside 478 4.31 4.29

Czech Republic
Gross Domestic Product
Koruna Billions: chained 2015 prices

Baseline 454 470 483
Downside 438 474 489
Upside 462 477 488
Denmark

Unemployment Rate
Annualised %

Baseline 3.41 3.57 3.73
Downside 4.26 3.47 3.32
Upside 3.06 3.24 3.48
Estonia

Gross Domestic Product
Euro Millions: chained 2015 prices

Baseline 2,336 2,417 2,487
Downside 2,312 2,413 2,497
Upside 2,350 2,439 2,508

Source: Oxford Economics
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.5.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model - continued

As of 31 December 2021 2022 2023 2024

Finland
Unemployment Rate
Annualised %

Baseline 7.00 6.94 6.73
Downside 7.39 6.86 6.61
Upside 6.65 6.70 6.54
Germany

Personal Disposable Income
Euro Billions: chained 2015 prices

Baseline 166 169 171
Downside 163 170 173
Upside 166 169 171
Latvia

Gross Domestic Product
Euro Millions: chained 2015 prices

Baseline 2,483 2,573 2,633
Downside 2,459 2,569 2,641
Upside 2,499 2,594 2,651
Norway

Unemployment Rate
Annualised %

Baseline 3.35 3.40 3.38
Downside 3.83 3.29 3.19
Upside 2.93 3.10 3.16
Poland

Gross Domestic Product
Zloty Millions: chained 2015 prices

Baseline 195,295 202,148 207,792
Downside 190,217 203,495 209,292
Upside 197,043 203,965 209,490

Source: Oxford Economics
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.5 Expected credit loss measurement - continued

2.2.5.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model - continued

As of 31 December 2021 2022

Romania
Gross Domestic Product
Lei Billions: chained 2000 prices

Baseline 16
Downside 15
Upside 16
Spain

Gross Domestic Product
Euro Billions: chained 2015 prices

Baseline 100
Downside 97
Upside 103
Sweden

Personal Disposable Income
Kronor Millions: chained 2020 prices

Baseline 213,523
Downside 211,722
Upside 213,895

2023

16
16
16

104
105
105

215,759
215,380
216,309

2024

16
16
17

106
107
107

219,337
219,464
219,883

Source: Oxford Economics

The chained prices in respect to Gross Domestic Product and Personal Disposable Income outlined
above adjust the respective real currency amounts for inflation over time to allow the comparison of

figures from different periods.

On the basis of the above, the Bank’s model of assessing the macro-economic impact on ECL as at
31 December 2021 continues to provide an adequate determination of the ECL based on the inputs
as disclosed above and on the basis of management’s judgement and hence no additional credit
loss reserve were deemed to be required other than those booked during 2021. Management
monitors on an ongoing basis, the economic forecasts releases and adjusts its model inputs and
assess the connected outcomes in the light of revised macroeconomic data and other quantitative

and qualitative information.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.6 Maximum exposure to credit risk

An ‘exposure’ is defined as the amount at risk arising from the Bank’s assets and off-balance sheet
items. The Bank’s maximum credit risk with respect to on- and off-balance sheet items can be
classified into the following categories:

e Financial assets recognised on-balance sheet comprising principally balances with Central
Banks, investment in securitisation portfolio and loans and advances to banks, customers and
group companies. The maximum exposure to credit risk of these financial assets equals their
gross carrying amounts.

e Financial guarantee contracts entered into with related group companies. The latter carry the
same credit risk as loans and advances to customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
the full amount that the Bank would have to pay if the guarantees are called upon.

e Loan commitments and other credit related commitments that are irrevocable over the life of the
respective facilities. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the committed
facilities. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments as most
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit
standards. These exposures are monitored in the same manner in respect of loans and
advances and predominantly arise on revolving credit facilities.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.6 Maximum exposure to credit risk - continued

The Bank’s credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet
instruments, reflecting the maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit
enhancements include the following:

2021 2020
Gross Gross
carrying ECL carrying ECL
amount allowance amount allowance
€°000 €000 €000 €000
Credit risk exposures relating to
on-balance sheet assets:
Subject to IFRS 9 impairment
requirements
Financial assets measured at
amortised cost:
Balances with Central Banks 138,921 - 96,334 -
Loans and advances to banks 48,165 - 56,303 -
Loans and advances to customers 386,507 (62,575) 303,641 (62,434)
Loans and advances to group 15,486 - 14,875 -
Investment in securitisation portfolio 60,685 - 7,629 -
Other financial assets 10,029 - 15,363 -
Credit risk exposure 659,793 (62,575) 494,145 (62,434)
Credit risk exposures relating to
off-balance sheet instruments:
Financial guarantees 6,515 (1,974) 4,530 (1,353)
Credit risk exposure 6,515 (1,974) 4,530 (1,353)

All exposures classified under securitisation portfolio undergo a thorough analysis process, not only
from an internal credit perspective but also from a legal and financial perspective. The securitisation
vehicle invests in the portfolio of SME loans and is subject to a continuous, and thorough monitoring
and oversight process in order to identify any financial instruments which require increased
monitoring of performance.

The securitisation vehicle acquires receivables which are not defaulted, disputed or insolvent. The
portfolio acquires loans that consists of current and 1-30 days past due exposures with an underlying
and estimated probability of default which is not in excess of 20%. The Bank is the holder of Class
A Notes, which are senior to the Class B Notes in terms of the applicable priority of payments and
thus potential losses incurred by the SPV are first absorbed by Class B Notes holder.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.7 Credit concentration risk

In this respect, the Bank actively assesses the securitisation portfolio for indications of impairment. The
Bank conducts periodical sensitivity analysis in relation to the respective portfolio, taking into consideration
plausible worst-case scenarios, in order to assess whether the Bank should provide for expected credit
losses. The outcome of such sensitivity analysis, coupled with the fact that a substantial amount of
potential losses would first be absorbed by Class B Notes holder, does not suggest any requirement for
the accounting of expected credit losses.

Within the Bank, concentration risk of losses results from inadequate diversification of the credit
exposures. This risk is managed by actively measuring, reporting and monitoring on a regular and ongoing
basis risk concentration levels against reasonable thresholds for counterparties, products, and territories.

Credit concentration risk for counterparties

The Bank’s loans and advances to customers comprise of retail exposures which are individually
insignificant. The Bank’s underlying investment in securitisation portfolio comprise of multiple exposures
of SME loans which are spread throughout multiple countries.

As at 31 December 2021, no loans and advances to customers or other financial assets were deemed to
be in excess of the large exposures, prior to any eligible exemptions, in accordance with the requirements
of Part Four: Large Exposures, of the CRR. The Bank’s loans and advances comprise a large number of
customer accounts with no individual customer or group of dependent customers being considered by
management as a significant concentration of credit risk in the context of the CRR. Nonetheless, these
exposures are monitored and reported frequently and rigorously.

Credit concentration risk by geographical region

The geographical concentration of the Bank’s financial assets as at the end of the reporting period is
analysed below. For the purposes of this analysis, the Bank has allocated exposures to regions based on
the country of domicile of the respective customers or counterparties. At 31 December 2021, loans and
advances to banks were placed with banks domiciled in the following countries:

2021 2020

€000 €000
Malta 10,233 15,025
Czech Republic 11,189 16,277
Slovakia 1 14
Poland 7,091 14,993
France 5,155 3,967
Bulgaria 574 77
Estonia 166 361
Finland - 4
Spain 4,125 2,336
Croatia 4,320 705
United Kingdom 2,529 709
Lithuania 168 616
Italy 865 1,219
Romania 1,739 -
Gross loans and advances to banks 48,165 56,303
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.7 Credit concentration risk - continued

Credit concentration risk by geographical region - continued

The Bank’s loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2021 are principally linked to
lending and related operations in the following countries:

2021 2020

€000 €000
Poland 4,295 12,196
Estonia 25,785 19,638
Latvia 79,626 53,534
Czech Republic 19,215 21,266
Germany 32,467 13,937
Bulgaria 7,511 8,160
Sweden 108,843 70,596
Norway 7,377 6,617
Spain 649 17,261
Croatia 5,726 10,436
Denmark 40,478 35,236
Finland 50,143 34,764
Romania 4,392 -
Gross loans and advances to customers 386,507 303,641

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the balances with the Central banks represented a deposit with the
Central Bank of Malta and a deposit with the Central Bank of Lithuania.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, loans and advances to group companies consisted of advances
with an undertaking registered in Finland.

2.2.8 Information on credit quality of balances with other banks

In the normal course of business, the Bank places funds and carries out transactions through
correspondent accounts with high credit quality local listed banks and international banks having a
good credit rating, subject to the operational requirements and the application of a limit framework.
Accordingly, such exposures are monitored through the practical use of exposure limits. In certain
countries, the Bank had to utilise unrated financial institutions due to operational constraints within
such country, in view of the profile of the banking sector in those territories. The Bank would carry
out a comprehensive due diligence on such banks, prior to engaging with the banks, and on an
event-driven basis throughout the term of the relationship.

At 31 December 2021, loans and advances to banks consisted primarily of immediately withdrawable
nostro balances and term placements maturing within one month.

The Bank runs the risk of loss of funds due to the possible political, economic and other events in a
particular country where funds have been placed or invested with several counterparties domiciled
in the same country or region. Countries are assessed according to their size, economic data and
prospects together with credit ratings issued by international rating agencies. Existing country credit
risk exposures, based on groupings of individual counterparties, are monitored and reviewed
periodically. The Bank’s assets are predominantly in Europe.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.8 Information on credit quality of balances with other banks - continued

At the end of the reporting period, none of the financial assets referred to were past due or impaired.
The following tables set out information about the credit quality of specific financial assets measured

at amortised cost. The credit quality of the financial assets is determined by credit ratings applicable
to issuers or counterparties based on external ratings published by reputable credit rating agencies:

2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime Total
€000 €°000 €000 €000
Balances with Central Banks
at amortised cost
A+ to A- 138,921 - - 138,921
Gross carrying amount 138,921 - - 138,921
Loss allowance - - - -
Carrying amount —
net of loss allowance 138,921 - - 138,921

In this regard, the credit rating of the Government of Malta and Government of Lithuania as at 31
December 2021 had both a rating of A2, as issued by Moody’s on 06 August 2021 and 12 February
2021, respectively. (2020: A2, as issued by Moody’s on 11 August 2020 and 12 February 2021,
respectively.) As at 31 December 2021, expected credit loss allowances in respect of balances with
the Central Banks (which are assumed to have the same credit quality as the Government of Malta
and Government of Lithuania respectively) were deemed to be insignificant.

Similarly, the Bank holds immediately withdrawable balances with highly rated and reputable
financial institutions. As at 31 December 2021, expected credit loss allowances in respect of such
balances were deemed to be insignificant.

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime Total
€000 €000 €000 €°000
Balances with Central Banks
at amortised cost
A+ to A- 96,334 - - 96,334
Gross carrying amount 96,334 - - 96,334
Loss allowance - - - -
Carrying amount —
net of loss allowance 96,334 - - 96,334

59



FERRATUM BANK PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021

Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.8 Information on credit quality of balances with other banks - continued

2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime Total
€000 €000 €000 €°000

Loans and advances to
banks at amortised cost
A+ to A- 14,283 - - 14,283
BBB+ to BBB- 19,063 - - 19,063
BB+ to BB- 1,016 - - 1,016
Unrated 13,803 - - 13,803
Gross carrying amount 48,165 - - 48,165
Loss allowance - - - -
Carrying amount -
net of loss allowance 48,165 - - 48,165

The Bank’s loans and advances to group companies consist of advances with an undertaking
registered in Finland and comprise of Stage 1 (12-month ECL) financial assets as at 31 December
2021. The external credit rating of the Multitude Group as at 31 December 2021 was BB-, issued by
Creditreform Rating AG on 29 April 2020. (2020: BB-, issued by Creditreform Rating AG on 29 April
2020). On this basis, credit loss allowances in respect of the Bank’s loans and advances to Multitude
Group as at 31 December 2021 were deemed to be immaterial.

As at 31 December 2021, there were no Purchased Credit-Impaired assets.

After the end of the reporting period there were no significant changes in credit ratings reflected in
the tables above which have a material impact on the credit quality of the financial assets.

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime Total
€000 €000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to
banks at amortised cost
AAA to AA- 4 - - 4
A+ to A- 18,179 - - 18,179
BBB+ to BBB- 30,022 - - 30,022
BB+ to BB- 1,852 - - 1,852
Unrated 6,246 - - 6,246
Gross carrying amount 56,303 - - 56,303
Loss allowance - - - -
Carrying amount -
net of loss allowance 56,303 - - 56,303
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.9 Information on credit quality of investment in securitisation portfolio

2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime Total
€000 €000 €000 €°000
Investment in securitisation
portfolio at amortised cost
Unrated 60,685 - - 60,685
Gross carrying amount 60,685 - - 60,685
Loss allowance - - - -
Carrying amount 60,685 - - 60,685

The Bank’s investment in securitisation portfolio consist of notes, which are structured in tranches
amounting to €200,000 each, in Ferratum Portfolio S.A.R.L, a private limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg as an unregulated securitisation company, which was
set up during 2020. The principal activity of this company consists of the purchase and acquisition
of receivables to entities which fall part of the Small and Medium entities (SME) industry
classification. As of 31 December 2021, Ferratum Portfolio S.A.R.L, acquired a portfolio of SME
loans in Netherlands, Sweden, Finland and Lithuania.

According to the note purchase agreement dated 21 August 2020 Ferratum Portfolio S.A.R.L
acquires receivables which are not defaulted, disputed or insolvent. The acquired portfolio consists
of current and 1-30 days past due exposures with an underlying estimated probability of default which
is not in excess of 20%.

Ferratum Bank is the holder of Class A notes, which are senior notes and have a higher credit quality
and also the highest priority of payment amongst the other creditors.

In this respect, the Bank actively assesses the securitisation portfolio for indications of impairment.
The Bank conducts periodical sensitivity analysis in relation to the respective portfolio, taking into
consideration plausible worst-case scenarios, in order to assess whether the Bank should provide
for expected credit losses. The outcome of such sensitivity analysis, coupled with the fact that a
substantial amount of potential losses would first be absorbed by Class B Notes holder, does not
reflect any need for the Bank to provide for expected credit losses.

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime Total
€°000 €000 €000 €000
Investment in securitisation
portfolio at amortised cost
Unrated 7,629 - - 7,629
Gross carrying amount 7,629 - - 7,629
Loss allowance - - - -
Carrying amount 7,629 - - 7,629
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.10 Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers

The Bank manages the credit quality of its loans and advances to customers by using internal risk
grades, which provide a progressively increasing risk profile ranging from ‘Regular’ (best quality, less
risky) to ‘Loss’. These risk grades are an essential tool for the Bank to identify both non-performing
exposures and better-performing customers. The internal risk grades used by the Bank are as
follows:

- Performing: Internal grade ‘Regular’
- Under performing: Internal grades ‘Watch’ and ‘Substandard’; and
- Non-performing: Internal grades ‘Doubtful’ and ‘Loss’.

Regular

The Bank’s loans and advances to customers which are categorised as ‘Regular’ are principally debts
in respect of which payment is not overdue by 30 days and no recent history of customer default
exists. Management does not expect losses from non-performance by these customers, which are
considered as fully performing.

Watch
Loans and advances that attract this category principally comprise those where:

(i) payment becomes overdue by 30 days, but does not exceed 60 days where a loan is deemed
to be as non-performing when past due for more than 90 days;

(i) and payment becomes overdue by 30 days but does not exceed 45 days where a loan is
deemed to be as non-performing when past due for more than 60 days;

(if)  payment becomes overdue between 5 and 10 days in instances when a loan was granted a
payment holiday (refer to Note 1.5).

Substandard
Exposures that are categorised within this category comprise those where:

()  payment becomes overdue by 61 days but does not exceed 90 days for where a loan is deemed
to be as non-performing when past due for more than 90 days;

(i) and where payment becomes overdue by 46 days, but does not exceed 60 days where a loan
is deemed to be as non-performing when past due for more than 60 days;

Doubtful

Loans and advances which attract a ‘Doubtful’ grading are principally those assets in respect of
which:

(i) repayment becomes overdue by 61 days and over but not exceeding 180 days for where a
loan is deemed to be as non-performing when past due for more than 60 days;

(ii) and repayment becomes overdue by 91 days and over but not exceeding 180 days for a
loan is deemed to be as non-performing when past due for more than 90 days.

Loss

Loans and advances in respect of which payment becomes overdue by 180 days.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.10 Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers - continued

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at

amortised cost. Explanation of the terms: 12-month ECL, lifetime ECL and credit-impaired are
included in note 2.2.5.3.

2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime Total
€000 €°000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to
customers at amortised cost
Regular 282,661 - - 282,661
Watch - 15,827 - 15,827
Substandard - 6,037 - 6,037
Doubtful - - 20,640 20,640
Loss - - 61,342 61,342
Gross carrying amount 282,661 21,864 81,982 386,507
Loss allowance (15,627) (5,847) (41,101) (62,575)
Carrying amount 267,034 16,017 40,881 323,932
Off-balance sheet items:
Financial guarantee contracts
Gross carrying amount 4,318 650 1,547 6,515
Loss allowance (623) (335) (1,016) (1,974)
Carrying amount 3,695 315 531 4,541
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.10 Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers - continued

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime Total
€000 €°000 €000 €000

Loans and advances to
customers at amortised cost
Regular 203,200 - - 203,200
Watch - 10,481 - 10,481
Substandard - 4,913 - 4913
Doubtful - - 21,777 21,777
Loss - - 63,270 63,270
Gross carrying amount 203,200 15,394 85,047 303,641
Loss allowance (14,337) (4,296) (43,801) (62,434)
Carrying amount 188,863 11,098 41,246 241,207
Off-balance sheet items:
Financial guarantee contracts
Gross carrying amount 2,970 332 1,228 4,530
Loss allowance (389) (152) (812) (1,353)
Carrying amount 2,581 180 416 3,177

The Bank also had undrawn commitments to lend which predominantly comprise of undrawn
balances on revolving credit facilities. The Bank may be exposed to losses equivalent to the total
unused commitments (if drawn down by customers), however, additional drawdowns are contingent
on customers maintaining specific credit standards.

Financial guarantee contracts as at 31 December 2021 amounting to €6,515,000 (2020: €4,530,000)
are sub-divided between the staging classifications (Stages 1 to 3) as illustrated in the table
presented on the previous page. ECL allowances on financial guarantee contracts as at 31
December 2021 amounted to €1,974,000 (2020: €1,353,000).

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there are no purchased credit-impaired assets.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.10 Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers - continued

The following table analyses the impaired loans and advances, gross of impairment allowances, by

geographical sector:

Poland
Estonia
Latvia
Czech Republic
Germany
Bulgaria
Sweden
Norway
Spain
Croatia
Denmark
Finland
Romania

Gross impaired loans and advances to customers

Past due but not impaired

IFRS 9 IFRS 9
Stage 3 Stage 3
2021 2020
€°000 €000
1,649 3,827
5,528 2,137
15,509 8,824
5,908 5,738
4,603 2,206
7,249 7,922
24,727 12,949
2,312 1,099
702 15,076
741 6,445
2,149 14,150
10,515 4,674
390 -
81,982 85,047

As at 31 December 2021, loans and advances to customers amounting to €61,649,000 (2020:
€51,392,000) were deemed to be past due (and not deemed credit impaired or collectively impaired),
taking cognisance of the manner in which, the Bank practically manages its collection activities. A
financial asset is past due when a customer has failed to effect payment when contractually due, but
normally, given the nature of the Bank’s loan portfolio, the impaired status is not formally assigned
until the exposure is more than 90 days past due (or 60 days in the case of specific products). An
ageing analysis of these past due loans and advances is accordingly presented within the tables on

the previous pages.
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.11 Modification of financial assets

The Bank sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to customers, which, as explained in note
1.5, is not deemed to constitute a forbearance measure.

The Bank monitors the subsequent performance of modified assets, including instances where
payment holiday is granted, to assess for indicators of a significant increase in credit risk. When the

modification is not substantial, it does not result in derecognition of the original asset (refer to note
1.5).

The Bank held renegotiated or rescheduled loans and advances to customers amounting to
€97,631,838 (2020: €77,357,879) as at the end of the reporting period. These are analysed below
by ageing as follows:

Still
outstanding
at 28 February

2021 2022

€000 €000

Stage 1 63,870 61,926
Stage 2 15,807 12,222
Stage 3 17,955 16,078
97,632 90,226

Still

outstanding
at 28 February

2020 2021

€000 €000

Stage 1 50,703 49,007
Stage 2 12,784 11,136
Stage 3 13,871 12,122
77,358 72,265
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Credit risk - continued
2.2.11 Modification of financial assets - continued

The Bank’s rescheduled loans are analysed by geographical location as follows:

2021 2020

€000 €000

Bulgaria 160 142
Czech Republic 10,144 9,417
Denmark 14,628 16,360
Estonia 10,016 6,525
France 15,699 12,920
Germany 2,807 2,624
Latvia 12,669 11,275
Norway 556 698
Romania 222 -
Spain 573 3,038
Sweden 30,158 14,359
97,632 77,358

During 2020 and 2021, a number of loan moratoria were granted by the Bank to certain COVID-impacted
customers, as was mandated by the European Banking Authority in the light of the COVID-19 crisis. The
total loan moratoria and rescheduled loans extended by the Bank to COVID impacted customers as of 31
December 2021 amounted to €61,398 (2020: €552,092) or 0.02% (2020: 0.20%) of the gross carrying
amount of total consumer loans as of the end of the financial year. The Bank assessed the impact that
such measures (and any potential cliff effect when these measures expire) have on its results, and the
potential impact in ECL was deemed to be insignificant. In view of the underlying nature of the loan portfolio
which is managed collectively and the non-significance of the total COVID-19 related rescheduled loans
in the context of the aggregate value of amounts owed to customers, such moratoria and rescheduled
loans were not deemed to impact the overall Bank’s credit risk management’s process which is described
in Note 2.2.5.1.

2021 2020
Gross Expected Gross Expected
carrying credit carrying credit
amount losses amount losses
€000 €000 €000 €000
Stage 1 1 - 269 27
Stage 2 1 5 115 60
Stage 3 49 31 168 102
61 36 552 189
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.12 Loss allowances

Reconciliation of 12-month and lifetime ECL provision

The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described below:

Transfers between ‘Stage 1’ and ‘Stages 2 or 3’ due to financial instruments experiencing significant
increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent
"step up" (or "step down") between 12-month and Lifetime ECL;

Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases
for financial instruments derecognised in the period;

Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising
from regular refreshing of inputs to models;

Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;

Discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present value
basis;

Foreign exchange retranslations for assets denominated in foreign currencies and other movements;
and

Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets that
were written off during the period.

The significant change in the gross carrying amount of financial assets that contributed to changes in loss
allowances was mainly due to growth in the loan book, which was aligned with the Bank's growth
objectives.

The following table explains changes in the gross carrying amount of the financial assets to help explain
their significance to the changes in the loss allowance for the same portfolios as discussed above:
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Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Credit risk - continued

2.2.12 Loss allowances - continued

Reconciliation of 12-month and lifetime ECL provision - continued

The following tables explain the changes in the gross carrying amount and loss allowance between the beginning
and the end of the annual period:

Balances with Central Banks
at amortised cost
at 1 January 2021

Financial assets originated or
purchased during the year

At 31 December 2021

Total net income statement
change during the year

Investment in securitisation

portfolio at amortised cost
at 1 January 2021

Financial assets originated or
purchased during the year

At 31 December 2021

Total net income statement
change during the year

Loans and advances to banks
at amortised cost

at 1 January 2021

Financial assets
derecognised during the year

At 31 December 2021

Total net income statement
change during the year
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